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February 9, 2022 Via U.S. Mail  

Damon L. Garrett, PE 
City of Highland Park 
Office of the Water Department 
Metro Consulting Associates, LLC 
14110 Woodward Avenue 
Highland Park, MI 48203 

Re:  Highland Park’s Invalid “Invoices” 

Dear Mr. Garrett: 

We are responding to your letter dated January 26, 2022, which enclosed a purported “invoice” 
to Great Lakes Water Authority (“GLWA”) for the return of “surplus” funds that Highland Park 
claims to have “mistakenly overpaid” to GLWA from 2016 to present. Your letter is inaccurate and 
the purported invoice and any and all related invoices from Highland Park to GLWA are invalid.   

This response will not attempt to address all the inaccuracies in your letter, but the notion that 
Highland Park has “overpaid” GLWA is incorrect. GLWA obviously does not owe Highland Park 
any money. The truth is Highland Park owes GLWA approximately $20 million since 2016, over 
$30 million since 2014 and over $50 million since 2008.1 GLWA rejects the “invoice” enclosed in 
your letter and all such invoices from Highland Park. They are false and invalid documents that 
Highland Park has created in an ongoing effort to avoid its clear payment obligations to GLWA 
for potable water, sewage treatment, and industrial waste control services.  

As set forth in more detail in papers filed in ongoing litigation, Highland Park has breached express 
and implied contracts for those services and is currently in violation of its admitted obligation under 
a 1996 consent judgment to deposit daily 65% of its water and sewer revenues into an escrow 
account and distribute those amounts to GLWA by the 10th day of each month. That escrow 
obligation is memorialized in the 1996 consent judgment that Highland Park has repeatedly 
admitted remains “in full force and effect” in papers it has filed in the 2020 Case pending in Wayne 

1 See City of Highland Park Billings and Collections statement showing a balance as of 
December 31, 2021 of $51,891,141 for water, sewer, and industrial waste control (IWC) 
services, enclosed here at Tab 1.
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County Circuit Court.2  Of course, Highland Park has an obligation to pay GLWA in full for all water 
and sewer services provided. Highland Park has woefully failed to meet those payment 
obligations. Since April 2021, it has failed to meet even its minimum and independent obligation 
to make the monthly payments of 65% of its water and sewer revenues to GLWA from the escrow 
account pursuant to the 1996 consent judgment.    

The legal arguments asserted in your letter are incorrect and have not been accepted by any 
court. There is no “declaratory judgment” as your letter wrongly suggests. No court has adopted 
Highland Park’s preposterous assertion that its payment obligations were somehow “capped” by 
the 1996 consent judgment.  

Highland Park asserted that position in the 2014 Case and the circuit court rejected that 
interpretation when it granted summary disposition to Detroit.3  No declaratory relief was granted 
by court in the 2014 Case. Highland Park has received no judgment or order that in any way limits 
Highland Park’s obligation to pay for services rendered since 2014.4 Its continued refusal to do 
so is wrongful. 

GLWA renews its demand that Highland Park immediately pay all amounts due for water, sewage 
treatment, and industrial waste control services and pay all outstanding invoices issued by GLWA 
for these amounts and all amounts as they come due. 

Highland Park’s repeated breaches of its payment obligations and its contempt of the 1996 
consent judgment are serious acts of misconduct that harm the citizens of Highland Park and 
southeastern Michigan. It is irresponsible for Highland Park to continue to accumulate such a 
significant debt burden while simultaneously failing to plan for any payment for water and sewer 
services that GLWA continues to provide for the health and welfare of the citizens of Highland 
Park.  

2 See, e.g., Highland Park’s Countercomplaint, p. 10, enclosed without exhibits at Tab 2.  

3 Wayne County Circuit Court Case No. 14-001974-CK. 

4 A February 26, 2021 order entered in the 2014 Case did not grant Highland Park a declaratory 
judgment. It did also not grant Highland Park any relief against GLWA. That order, which as you 
know is subject to an ongoing appeal in pending in the Michigan Court of Appeals, dismissed 
Highland Park’s claims against GLWA and directed Highland Park to refile those claims in the 
2020 Case. Highland Park continues to default on its clear payment obligations and remains in 
contempt of the 1996 consent judgment that it admits remains “in full force and effect.”  
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Highland Park and its citizens deserve responsible leadership that will honor payment obligations 
for these essential services.  Highland Park’s ongoing, complete failure to pay for them needlessly 
creates an enormous financial burden for Highland Park that will be difficult to overcome when 
judgments against the city are entered and executed.  

Regards, 

DYKEMA GOSSETT PLLC

John F. Rhoades



TAB 1 



City of Highland Park Billings and Collections

Cumulative
Water Sewer IWC Total

June 30, 2012 Balance -$               10,207,956$      852,987$       11,060,943$   
FY 2013 Billings 485,887          4,987,635          154,444         5,627,966       
FY 2013 Payments (65,652)          (2,206,211)         -                 (2,271,863)      

-                  
June 30, 2013 Balance 420,235$        12,989,380$      1,007,431$    14,417,046$   

FY 2014 Billings 1,004,357       6,980,442          161,951         8,146,750       
FY 2014 Payments -                  (1,612,633)         -                 (1,612,633)      

-                  
June 30, 2014 Balance 1,424,592$    18,357,189$      1,169,382$    20,951,163$   

FY 2015 Billings 1,008,032       5,553,123          165,739         6,726,894       
FY 2015 Payments -                  (1,444,623)         -                 (1,444,623)      

-                  
June 30, 2015 Balance 2,432,625$    22,465,689$      1,335,121$    26,233,435$   

FY 2016 Billings 1,157,178       5,612,167          106,431         6,875,776       
FY 2016 Payments -                  (2,022,335)         -                 (2,022,335)      

-                  
June 30, 2016 Balance 3,589,803$    26,055,521$      1,441,551$    31,086,875$   

FY 2017 Billings 1,245,267       5,802,000          101,999         7,149,265       
FY 2017 Payments -                  (2,309,186)         -                 (2,309,186)      

-                  
June 30, 2017 Balance 4,835,070$    29,548,335$      1,543,550$    35,926,954$   

FY 2018 Billings 1,277,179       5,657,101          80,472           7,014,752       
FY 2018 Payments -                  (4,108,108)         -                 (4,108,108)      

June 30, 2018 Balance 6,112,248$    31,097,327$      1,624,022$    38,833,597$   
FY 2019 Billings 1,238,797       5,617,100          51,220           6,907,117       
FY 2019 Payments -                  (5,241,583)         -                 (5,241,583)      

June 30, 2019 Balance 7,351,045$    31,472,844$      1,675,243$    40,499,132$   
FY 2020 Billings 1,182,639       5,665,400          47,097           6,895,136       
FY 2020 Payments -                  (3,026,117)         -                 (3,026,117)      

June 30, 2020 Balance 8,533,684$    34,112,127$      1,722,340$    44,368,151$   
FY 2021 Billings 1,185,506       5,702,000          47,423           6,934,929       
FY 2021 Payments -                  (2,783,552)         -                 (2,783,552)      

June 30, 2021 Balance 9,719,190$    37,030,575$      1,769,763$    48,519,528$   
FY 2022 Billings 636,415          2,710,900          24,298           3,371,612       
FY 2022 Payments -                  -                     -                 -                  

Balance as of December 31, 2021 10,355,605$  39,741,475$      1,794,061$    51,891,141$   



TAB 2 






















